### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,	)
Plaintiff-Appellee,	) )
<b>v.</b>	) S. CT. NO. 17–1640
WILLIAM E. CRAWFORD,	
Defendant–Appellant.	)

## APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY THE HONORABLE THOMAS G. REIDEL, JUDGE

### APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH State Appellate Defender

MARY K. CONROY Assistant Appellate Defender mconroy@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER
Fourth Floor Lucas Building
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX
ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

**FINAL** 

### **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

# I. WHETHER THE COURT SHOULD HAVE GRANTED CRAWFORD'S MOTION TO CONTINUE THE TRIAL?

### **Authorities**

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Ondayog, 722 N.W.2d 778, 784 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Clark, 814 N.W.2d 551 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Rodriguez, 636 N.W.2d 234, 239 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997)

Graber v. City of Ankeny, 616 N.W.2d 633 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 494 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2011)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.9(2) (2017)

State v. Simmons, 454 N.W.2d 866, 868 (Iowa 1990)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.911(1) (2017)

State v. Teeters, 487 N.W.2d 346, 347 (Iowa 1992)

State v. LaGrange, 541 N.W.2d 562, 564 (Iowa Ct. App. 1995)

State v. Eads, 166 N.W.2d 766, 771 (Iowa 1969)

Ragan v. Petersen, 569 N.W.2d 390 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997)

Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.33(2)(d) (2017)

State v. O'Connell, 275 N.W.2d 197, 200 (Iowa 1979)

State v. LeFlore, 308 N.W.2d 39, 41 (Iowa 1981)

State v. Zaehringer, 306 N.W.2d 792, 796 (Iowa 1981)

In re Orcutt, 173 N.W.2d 66, 70 (Iowa 1969)

Leka v. Portuondo, 257 F.3d 89, 101 (2nd Cir. 2001)

United States v. Burke, 571 F.3d 1048, 1054 (10th Cir. 2009)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 378 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Leckington, 713 N.W.2d 208, 218 (Iowa 2006)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984)

Gering v. State, 382 N.W.2d 151, 153-54 (Iowa 1986)

# II. WAS THE DEFENDANT PREJUDICED BY THE ADMISSION OF IMPERMISSIBLE EVIDENCE CONTAINED IN EXHIBIT 74?

### **Authorities**

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Martin, 704 N.W.2d 665, 671 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 494 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Brown, 656 N.W.2d 355, 361 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Tangie, 616 N.W.2d 564, 568 (Iowa 2000)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801(c) (2017)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.802 (2017)

State v. Horn, 282 N.W.2d 717, 724 (Iowa 1979)

State v. Cagley, 638 N.W.2d 678, 681 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Dullard, 668 N.W.2d 585, 590 (Iowa 2003)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.801

State v. Huser, 894 N.W.2d 472, 496–97 (Iowa 2017)

United States v. Kenyon, 481 F.3d 1054, 1065 (8th Cir. 2007)

Iowa R. Evid. 5.403 (2017)

State v. Edgerly, 571 N.W.2d 25, 29 (Iowa Ct. App. 1997)

State v. Reynolds, 765 N.W.2d 283, 290 (Iowa 2009)

Alcala v. Marriott Intern., Inc., 880 N.W.2d 699 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Taylor, 689 N.W.2d 116, 124 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Webster, 865 N.W.2d 223, 243 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Elliott, 806 N.W.2d 660, 668 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Cordova, 51 P.3d 449, 455 (Idaho Ct. App. 2002)

People v. Sanders, 75 Cal. App. 3d 501, 507–08 (Cal. Ct. App. 1977)

Bowman v. State, 710 N.W.2d 200, 204 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Myers, 382 N.W.2d 91, 97 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Enderle, 745 N.W.2d 438, 442-443 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Davis, No. 13–1099, 2014 WL 5243343, at \*6 (Iowa Ct. App. Oct. 15, 2014) (unpublished table decision)

People v. Musser, 835 N.W.2d 319, 333 (Mich. 2013)

State v. Huston, 825 N.W.2d 531, 537-38 (Iowa 2013)

U.S. Const. amend. VI

Iowa Const. art I, § 10

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 52-53, 68 (2004)

State v. Bentley, 739 N.W.2d 296, 298 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Moorehead, 699 N.W.2d 667, 672 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Kennedy, 846 N.W.2d 517 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Cox, 781 N.W.2d 757, 771 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Rodriguez, 636 N.W.2d 234, 239 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Maghee, 573 N.W.2d 1, 5 (Iowa 1997)

U.S. Const. amend. XIV

State v. Risdal, 404 N.W.2d 130, 131 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Ortiz, 789 N.W.2d 761, 764 (Iowa 2010)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 696 (1984)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Hopkins, 576 N.W.2d 374, 378 (Iowa 1998)

Gering v. State, 382 N.W.2d 151, 153-54 (Iowa 1986)

III. DID THE DISTRICT COURT ERR IN ORDERING APPELLATE ATTORNEY FEES TO BE ASSESSED IN THEIR ENTIRETY UNLESS THE DEFENDANT FILED A REQUEST FOR HEARING ON THE ISSUE OF HIS REASONABLE ABILITY TO PAY?

### **Authorities**

State v. Van Hoff, 415 N.W.2d 647, 648 (Iowa 1987)

State v. Dudley, 766 N.W.2d 606, 612 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Thomas, 520 N.W.2d 311, 313 (Iowa Ct. App. 1994)

State v. Cooley, 587 N.W.2d 752, 754 (Iowa 1998)

Iowa Code § 910.2(1) (2017)

Iowa Code § 815.14 (2017)

Goodrich v. State, 608 N.W.2d 774, 776 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Coleman, 907 N.W.2d 124, 148-49 (Iowa 2018)

### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

The Court should transfer this case to the Court of Appeals because it raises issues that involve the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) & 6.1101(3)(a).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Defendant-Appellant William E. Crawford appeals his conviction, sentence, and judgment following a jury trial and verdict finding him guilty of murder in the second degree, in Scott County District Court Case No. FECR379543.

Course of Proceedings: On September 21, 2016, the State charged Defendant–Appellant William E. Crawford with count I: murder in the first degree, a class "A" felony, in violation of Iowa Code sections 707.2(1)(a) and 703.1; and count II: willful injury resulting in serious injury, a class "C" felony, in violation of Iowa Code section 708.4(1). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 5–9); see also Iowa Code §§ 707.2(1)(a), 703.1, 708.4(1) (2017). Crawford filed a written arraignment

and plea of not guilty, in which he also waived his right to a trial within ninety days on September 21, 2016. (Arraignment & Plea) (App. p. 10).

After a breakdown with his attorneys from the public defender's office, Crawford was appointed a new attorney to represent him on June 21, 2017. (Order Pursuant Section 815.10) (App. pp. 25–26). On August 15, 2017, the attorney filed a motion to withdraw. (Mot. Withdraw) (App. p. 30). At the hearing on her motion, counsel asked the court to continue the trial, which was scheduled less than a week from the hearing, in the event the court did not allow her to withdraw. (Mot. Withdraw Tr. p.8 L.16–p.9 L.1). At the end of the hearing, the district court denied both the motion to withdraw and the motion to continue. (Mot. Withdraw Tr. p.12 L.1–p.13 L.15) (Order 08/15/2017) (App. pp. 31–32).

A jury trial commenced on August 21, 2017. (Trial Tr. vol.1 p.1 L.1–25, p.9 L.1–15) (Jury Verdict) (App. pp. 41–42). On August 25, 2017, the jury returned a verdict finding Crawford guilty of the lesser-included count of murder in the

second degree. (Trial Tr. vol.4 p.874 L.9-p.876 L.5) (Jury Verdict) (App. pp. 41-42).

On October 5, 2017, sentencing hearing was held. (Sentencing Tr. p.1 L.1-p.2 L.15) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 44-47). The district court ordered Crawford to serve an indeterminate sentence not to exceed fifty years, with a mandatory minimum sentence of seventy percent under Iowa Code section 902.12(1)(a). (Sentencing Tr. p.9 L.16–23) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 44). The court also ordered Crawford to pay court costs and victim restitution, including \$150,000 to Nunn's estate, pursuant to Iowa Code section 915.100(2)(c). (Sentencing Tr. p.9 L.16-p.10 L.7) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 45). However, the court found Crawford did not have the reasonable ability to pay the costs of his courtappointed attorney. (Sentencing Tr. p.10 L.2-3) (Sentencing Order) (Ap. p. 45). Lastly, the court ordered Crawford to submit a DNA sample. (Sentencing Tr. p.9 L.25-p.10 L.1) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 45).

Crawford timely filed a notice of appeal on October 12, 2017. (Notice) (App. p. 48).

Facts: On April 18, 2016, approximately thirty people were in LeClaire Park in Davenport, including the victim, Romane Nunn. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.352 L.11-p.353 L.10). Police were called after a fight broke out, and when they arrived they found Nunn was lying face down in the grass. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.485 L.24-25). Nunn was unresponsive on the scene. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.486 L.9-p.487 L.24). Medics arrived, administered CPR, and took Nunn to the hospital where he later died. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.493 L.3–20, p.500 L.22–23). The physician who performed the autopsy testified Nunn had one stab wound in his chest that penetrated the heart, resulting in significant blood loss and Nunn's death; he further stated Nunn had two other superficial stab wounds in his abdomen. (Trial Tr. vol.3) p.520 L.1-22, p.527 L.17-24).

As police investigated, they believed the stabbing of Nunn to be linked to an incident from the previous day concerning Crawford's girlfriend, Amanda Baker. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.446

L.23-p.447 L.15; vol.4 p.755 L.16-20). At approximately 7:30 p.m. on August 17th, a police officer responded to a call about a possibly injured and intoxicated woman walking; the officer found Baker walking down a street. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.431 L.17-p.432 L.4). Baker told the officer she was sexually assaulted but was uncooperative, denying medical assistance and declining to go to the police station to file a report. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.432 L.18-p.433 L.8). An officer testified she was evasive, frantic, and intoxicated. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.432 L.9-19). Baker told officers after the assault she was without a shirt, and only had her bra on; at the time she was stopped the individual who had called police had also given her his shirt. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.437 L.5-12, p.462 L.15-23). Law enforcement gave her a ride to 1518 Brady Street where she lived. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.433 L.9-19; vol.3 p.575 L.17-25).

In the early morning hours of August 18th, Crawford called the police to report Baker had been sexually assaulted. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.440 L.7–8, p.463 L.2–5; vol.4 p.781 L.17–19). Law enforcement arrived at 1518 Brady Street, Apartment 2 to

talk with Crawford and Baker. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.440 L.3–10). When officers arrived, Baker was on a bed and crying. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.440 L.19–23). An officer described Crawford as angry and wanting to know what the police were doing to catch Baker's assailant; Crawford told officers that he was going to try to find the man and hold him until they get him so he could not hurt anyone else. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.441 L.2–3, p.457 L.15–25). Baker did have cuts on her and older bruises, but again declined medical attention. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.456 L.8–10, p.470 L.6–11).

Baker reported her assailant was driving a gold car, and she described him as in his early thirties, approximately five foot six inches tall, dark-skinned, and bald black male with a stocky build. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.441 L.10–15, p.456 L.16–20). Baker testified the man forced her to take off her clothes at knifepoint, scratched her with his knife, and she believed he was going to sexually assault her; Baker told Crawford he did actually sexually assault her, but she did not testify to this at trial. (Trial Tr. vol.3 L.1–10; vol.4 p.782 L.4–5). Baker stated

the assailant only stopped because she told him she was possibly pregnant, with Crawford's child, and screamed. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.560 L.13–15, p.561 L.3–7, p.575 L.6–9, p.577 L.8–10).

After talking with Baker and Crawford, officers went to the garage that Baker had described as the scene of her assault. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.443 L.11-17). Once there, officers found the garage was as Baker had described; they also discovered the t-shirt and shorts she had been wearing. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.443 L.14-17, p.445 L.11-p.446 L.14, p.460 L.11-21). Officers then contacted the garage's owner and obtained some of its video surveillance. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.443 L.18-21). The surveillance did show a car leaving the area and then Baker leaving the garage. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.443 L.22–25). Officers eventually identified the car and its owner; the car was a silver 1988 Chrysler New Yorker, and the owner was a man named Travis Jones. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.451 L.16-p.452 L.25). After some investigation, the police identified a suspect, who was not Nunn. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.553 L.25-p.554 L.9).

The next day, on April 18, 2016, several people including Amber Buser and Jason VanKeulen, were playing an augmented reality game on their phones called Pokémon Go in LeClaire Park. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.351 L.20-p.352 L.13, p.371 L.3-5). Meanwhile, Gavin Whitmore, an acquaintance of Crawford's, was also in the park, but sitting in a different area at a table in the pavilion. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.412 L.1-p.413 L.17). Others were in the pavilion, including Jonah Jones, Crawford, Baker, Terrell Bloch and Durrell Parks. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.413 L.18-p.414 L.19; vol.3 p.657 L.3-11). The people in the pavilion were socializing and some were drinking alcohol, including vodka. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.415 L.1-8; vol.3 p.580 L.6-18). Whitmore testified Crawford had been drinking liquor and probably had a "nice buzz going on." (Trial Tr. vol.2) p.428 L.15-23).

Whitmore testified everything was going fine until Baker arrived and then "all hell broke loose." (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.415 L.25–p.416 L.13). Baker saw Nunn get out of his car, a green Saturn, and she told Crawford that Nunn was at the park and

he had raped her; Whitmore testified she was crying as well. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.416 L.19–p.417 L.18, p.426 L.1–p.427 L.10, p.581 L.2–10). Whitmore testified Baker knew Nunn's name. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.417 L.17–18). Baker also testified she told Crawford that Nunn was her assailant several times. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.587 L.11–17). After Baker identified Nunn as her rapist, Crawford left the pavilion and confronted Nunn. (Trial Tr. p.418 L.12–p.419 L.17).

It was around sunset, and the sky was darkening; meanwhile, Buser and VanKeulen were sitting on a park bench along the riverfront in between the amphitheater and the old boat, which used to be a casino. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.353 L.14–19, p.381 L.1–5) (Ex. 30) (Ex. App. p. 8). The two did not know each other but had just met playing the game and started chatting; Nunn approached and started talking with them as well. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.354 L.13–p.355 L.25, p.371 L.14–p.373 L.21). VanKuelen and Nunn did not know each other very well, but had met and talked while playing the game. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.371 L.14–25).

VanKuelen and Nunn continued talking about the game, while Buser used her phone, when a man wearing a black t-shirt with a pair of long black jean shorts approached quickly and yelled at Nunn angrily. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.355 L.7–p.357 L.3, p.360 L.1–6, p.374 L.1–24, p.397 L.5–10). VanKuelen later identified the man in a pretrial photo lineup and at trial as Crawford; Buser testified she did not get a good look at the man's face. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.360 L.1–3, p.375 L.20–p.376 L.7, p.382 L.20–p.385 L.5). Joseph Nelson, another Pokémon Go player who was standing about ten to fifteen feet behind the bench, also identified the man as Crawford at trial. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.406 L.6–16).

Buser and VanKuelen testified Crawford was yelling at Nunn, asking if he was Mr. Romane, and Nunn confirmed his first name was Romane. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.357 L.3–7, p.374 L.5–25). Buser and VanKuelen testified Crawford screamed at Nunn that Nunn was in violation of the law and had raped his girl. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.357 L.2–10, p.376 L.15). Buser and VanKeulen testified Crawford pulled out a knife from his

pocket, dropped his backpack on the ground in front of Buser, and swung the knife at Nunn. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.357 L.8–p.359 L.25, p.363 L.1–19, p.376 L.16–25, p.390 L.13–22). Buser called 911. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.357 L.15–25) (Ex. 2).

Buser and Nelson testified Nunn walked backwards with his hands in the air and informed Crawford that he was mistaken and had the wrong person. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.360 L.9–13, p.399 L.13–p.403 L.5). VanKeulen testified Nunn jumped back and walked away from Crawford. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.377 L.4–10). Both witnesses testified that Crawford followed Nunn into a grassy field in the park. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.360 L.9–13, p.377 L.6–12).

Buser testified she believed Crawford stabbed Nunn once, causing Nunn to stumble, but Nunn was able to get up and back away again. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.360 L.19–24). However, Buser testified Crawford stabbed Nunn again, causing him to fall to the ground. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.360 L.19–24). VanKeulen testified he saw Crawford stab Nunn in the chest, and Nunn grabbed his chest and ran until collapsing. (Trial Tr. vol.2

p.377 L.18–p.378 L.20). VanKeulen and Nelson both testified while Nunn was on the ground, Crawford, along with two other men who came from the pavilion, yelled profanities at Nunn and kicked and stomped on him, including his head. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.378 L.19–15, p.389 L.16–p.390 L.7, p.394 L.10–12, p.403 L.14–p.404 L.4). VanKeulen testified the whole thing happened extremely quickly, possibly within two minutes. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.391 L.9–p.393 L.12).

From his seat in the pavilion, Whitmore testified he did not see the altercation with at the riverfront, but saw Crawford lunge at Nunn in the grassy field, Nunn fall and get back up, Crawford lunge again, and Nunn collapse. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.419 L.7–23). Whitmore did not see Crawford with a knife. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.423 L.15–19). Whitmore also testified he saw Bloch run over and kick Nunn while Nunn was on the ground. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.421 L.4–10).

Whitmore testified Crawford then returned to the pavilion and stated "I think I killed him." (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.421 L.19–

21). Crawford then left the pavilion. (Trial Tr. vol.2 p.421 L.22–24).

Baker testified that she told Crawford she was not certain that Nunn was the man who assaulted her. (Trial Tr. vol.3) p.582 L.1-3). She also testified Crawford went to the riverside where Nunn was and Bloch and Parks followed him. (Trial Tr. vol.3 L.4-7). Baker stayed at the table in the pavilion, and she testified she did not see any altercation. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.582 L.4-p.583 L.2). At trial, Baker testified she did not know if Crawford owned a black folding pocketknife, but she stated she previously told a detective he did. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.583) L.3–22). She did not see him with a knife that day. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.586 L.14–18). At trial, Baker acknowledged she had been wrong and Nunn was not the man that assaulted her. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.586 L.5-9).

Fred Carter, who knew Crawford well, testified that on August 18, 2016, he was walking from the skybridge to the pavilion when he encountered Crawford, Bloch, and Parks. (Trial Tr. vol.3 p.658 L.6–21, p.661 L.14–p.664 L.6). Carter

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