IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 17-1640

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

WILLIAM E. CRAWFORD, Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR SCOTT COUNTY THE HONORABLE THOMAS G. REIDEL, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

TIMOTHY M. HAU

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) tim.hau@ag.iowa.gov

MIKE WALTON Scott County Attorney

KIMBERLY K. SHEPHARD AND STEVEN A. BERGER Assistant County Attorneys

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

Withdrawal Hearing tr. p.5 line 9–p.6 line 3. This is not good cause to continue trial. *See generally State v. Lopez*, 633 N.W.2d 774, 779 (Iowa 2001) ("The court should not permit a defendant to manipulate the right to counsel to delay or disrupt the trial.").

Lastly, the detriment to the State for the continuance was not insubstantial. Over thirty witnesses had been scheduled to testify.

Withdrawal Hearing tr. p.9 line 23–p.10 line 7; Trial Tr. p.2–5. Given counsel's time to prepare, the robust nature of the minutes of testimony, the unclear reasons why a continuance was necessary, and the significant scheduling the State's case necessitated, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Crawford's request for a continuance.

B. Crawford's Counsel was Effective; the Record does not Support Crawford's Claim the District Court's Decision Denied him his Trial Rights.

If this Court elects to bypass the State's error preservation concern and address the merits of Crawford's due process claim and its ineffective-assistance-of-counsel variant, it will find each version of the claim fails.

To establish counsel was ineffective, Crawford must show (1) his attorney failed to perform an essential duty and (2) prejudice resulted. *State v. Carroll*, 767 N.W.2d 638, 641 (Iowa 2009). This Court presumes counsel is competent until Crawford meets his burden of demonstrating counsel's performance did not meet an objective standard of reasonableness. *State v. Ondayog*, 722 N.W.2d 778, 785 (Iowa 2006).

The due process right to present a defense includes the right to offer the testimony of witnesses and compel their attendance. *See Clark*, 814 N.W.2d at 561 (quoting *Osborn v. State*, 573 N.W.2d 917, 921 (Iowa 1998)). It ensures

the right to present the defendant's version of the facts as well as the prosecution's to the jury so it may decide where the truth lies. Just as an accused has the right to confront the prosecution's witnesses for the purpose of challenging their testimony, he has the right to present his own witnesses to establish a defense.

Id. "Motions to continue are disfavored and are justifiable only upon a 'showing of good and compelling cause." State v. Ruesga, 619

N.W.2d 377, 384 (Iowa 2000) (quoting then Iowa R. Crim. P. 8.1(2), now Iowa R. Crim. P. 2.9(2)). "The burden rests on the one seeking a continuance to show that substantial justice will be more nearly obtained thereby." Id. "Whether in any case enough time has been afforded for consultation, investigation for witnesses and preparation of the law and facts depends upon the circumstances of the case including the complexity of the factual issues and the legal principles involved." In re Orcutt, 173 N.W.2d 66, 71 (Iowa 1969)

Much of the reasoning why the district court did not abuse its discretion also informs whether its decision denied Crawford his due

process rights. Crawford had the essential information months prior to trial, the "revelation" that a witness's testimony would be adverse to the defense was presaged in the minutes of testimony, and Crawford has never articulated a discrete theory of how "Florida"'s testimony was material to his defense, nor did this witness's supposed observations play a part in Crawford's strategy at trial.

Additionally, there is reason to believe this motion to withdraw was a tactic to delay trial. Crawford had already had one attorney removed. 5/24/2017 Order Granting Withdrawal; 5/11/2017 Report to the Court; 4/17/2017 Pro Se Motion to Appoint New Counsel; App. 17–20; 21–22; 23–24. The record indicates that after trial began, Crawford intended to make an outburst mid-trial with the hopes of causing a mistrial and staving off the jury's verdict. Trial Tr. p.700 line 8–p.702 line 3. The district court's decision to not continue the case further did not deprive Crawford the right to present a defense.

Likewise, Crawford cannot establish that his counsel's failure to raise these claims made the attorney ineffective. Repackaging the reasons given for continuance under a constitutional framing would not have changed the fact that Crawford did not proffer good cause for continuing his trial. Crawford dubiously suggests that this Court's

confidence in the proceeding should be undermined. But for the reasons described in Section II(C)(2) of this brief, overwhelming evidence supported Crawford's conviction, cementing this Court's confidence in the proceedings' outcome.

And Crawford's attorney was prepared. Counsel effectively cross-examined the State's witnesses. Counsel raised objections and attempted to exclude evidence believed harmful to the case. See generally Trial Tr. p.13 line 19-p.34 line 11; p.482 line 4-p.483 line 15; p.638 line 15-p.643 line 22; p.714 line 9-p.724 line 4. She strategically—and sensibly—urged that although Crawford may have been responsible for Nunn's death, his conduct did not meet the elements of first-degree murder. Trial Tr. p.841 line 5-22; 859 line 10-p.860 line 17. Her strategy was successful. 8/28/2017 Criminal Verdict; App. 43. Crawford articulates no reason why the lack of a continuance should undermine this Court's confidence in the jury's verdict or why a continuance would have led to an even more favorable outcome. Given the present state of the record his conclusory prejudice argument is insufficient. This Court should affirm.

II. The District Court's Cautionary Instruction Prevented Crawford from Suffering any Unfair Prejudice from Exhibit 74.

Preservation of Error

Crawford's claim under this heading is actually three distinct claims. One he properly litigated and preserved, and the latter two he raises for the first time on appeal.

The State does not contest error preservation as to the hearsay issue. The question of whether Detective Thomas made hearsay statements during Crawford's interrogation illustrated in Exhibit 74 was litigated below. Counsel raised the question of whether Thomas's statements contained hearsay. Trial Tr. p.714 line 10- p.724 line 4; p.749 line 9-p.750 line 17; p.761 line 2-18. The district court ultimately rejected Crawford's challenge, accepting the State's argument that Thomas's statements were not being admitted for the truth of the matter asserted, but were relevant because they provided context to Crawford's responses and demeanor within the recording. Trial Tr. p.714 line 10- p.724 line 4; p.749 line 9-p.750 line 17. It rejected Crawford's argument after noting that two of the claimed hearsay comments involved witnesses that had already testified at trial. Trial Tr. p.749 line 16–19. And, as for the third individual who

did not testify at trial, the district court pointed to a proposed limiting instruction as mitigating any potential prejudice. Trial Tr. p.749 line 20–p.750 line 6.

But on appeal, Crawford urges that Thomas's statements were also improper vouching and violated the Confrontation Clause. Appellant's Br. 56-57, 60-61, 63-65. But trial counsel made no reference to impropriety of the statements on vouching grounds or raised a Confrontation Clause concern during the pretrial hearing on the motions in limine or when challenging the contents of the video when it was subsequently offered at trial. Trial Tr. p.13 line 19-p.34 line 11. Nor was the issue raised in any of Crawford's motions in limine and decided by the district court. 8/21/2017 Motion in Limine #3; 8/16/2017 Motion in Limine #2; 3/24/2017 Motion in Limine #1; App. 13, 35-40. The hearsay objection was insufficient to preserve a these latter issues. See State v. Farni, 325 N.W.2d 107, 109 (Iowa 1982) (objection that question "calls for hearsay" was too broad to raise Confrontation Clause issue). Realizing this, Crawford brings a formulaic ineffective assistance of counsel variant on any claim not preserved. Appellant's Br. 53, 67-69.

The State addresses the preserved claims first, turning then to Crawford's claim that counsel was ineffective.

Standard of Review

Iowa courts review the admission of hearsay evidence for correction of errors at law. *State v. Huser*, 894 N.W.2d 472, 495 (Iowa 2017). When hearsay is improperly admitted, the district court's error is presumed to be prejudicial unless the State demonstrates the error was harmless. *Id.* (citing *State v. Elliott*, 806 N.W.2d 660, 669 (Iowa 2011)). The State may show improperly admitted evidence was not prejudicial by proving the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Sowder*, 394 N.W.2d 368, 372 (Iowa 1986).

Iowa courts review based on the Confrontation Clause de novo. *State v. Newell*, 710 N.W.2d 6, 23 (Iowa 2006). Violations of the Confrontation Clause are also subject to harmless error review. *Id.* at 25 ("[T]he inquiry 'is not whether, in a trial that occurred without the error, a guilty verdict surely would have been rendered, but whether the guilty verdict actually rendered in this trial was surely unattributable to the error.") (quoting *Sullivan v. Louisiana*, 508 U.S. 275, 279 (1993)).

Iowa courts similarly review claims of ineffective assistance of counsel de novo. *See Ennenga*, 812 N.W.2d at 701.

Merits

At trial, Crawford objected to the State playing portions of State's Exhibit 74. He argued that portions of the statements

Detective Thomas made in the recording were substantively false, contained references to Crawford's prior criminal activity, and contained hearsay. Trial Tr. p.714 line 10–p.719 line 6. On appeal, he renews the latter challenge and points to other statements he believes were unfairly prejudicial. He also claims his trial counsel was ineffective for not also raising a Confrontation Clause challenge to the recording. All of these claims fail. The State first addresses whether Thomas's statements during his interview with Crawford were hearsay, why their admission was harmless even if they were hearsay, and finally why Crawford has not established *Strickland* prejudice.

A. Thomas's statements were admissible to give context to Crawford's verbal and assertive non-verbal conduct.

Crawford's preserved challenge targets statements Detective

Thomas made during his initial interview. In the interview, Thomas
indicated that several persons observed him in a fight with Nunn and

asked Crawford to share his version of what happened. *See generally*Trial Exh. 74. His hearsay challenge fails in multiple respects.

First, Crawford is mistaken the State must establish that Thomas's statements in the recording fall under an exception to the rule excluding hearsay. Appellant's Br. 56. As the State argued at trial, the statements were not hearsay because they are not being admitted as substantive evidence to prove the truth of the content of the declarants' out-of-court statements. Trial Tr. p.720 line 19-p.723 line 22. Instead, they were admitted to provide context for Crawford's non-hearsay answers and recorded physical and emotional responses. See State v. Bridges, No. 16-1366, 2017 WL 6034627, at *10-11 (Iowa Ct. App. Dec. 6, 2017) (recording containing detective's statements repeatedly calling the defendant a liar was still admissible because the statements were not testimony and provided context for the defendant's statements); State v. Esse, No. 03-1739, 2005 WL 2367779, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. Sept. 28, 2005) (noting that, when State offered a recording of defendant's admissions made during interview with investigators, "the agents' questions and statements were admissible to place his answers in context"); see also State v. Hilleshiem, 305 N.W.2d 710, 712-13 (Iowa 1981) ("Statements of one

party to a conversation may be admitted without regard to their truth or falsity in order to show the context in which admissible statements by another party were made."); *State v. Watson*, 242 N.W.2d 702, 705 (Iowa 1976) ("The statement was not hearsay because it was not intended to prove the truth of any fact. The statement itself had no element of truth or falsity. It could prove nothing except its own utterance."). Such statements contained within a recording are admissible so long as they are relevant. Iowa Rules of Evidence 5.401, 5.402.

Likewise, Iowa courts have rejected challenges that police officers' "derogatory comments on [a defendant's] credibility were unnecessary to provide context" for the individual's responses. *See Enderle*, 745 N.W.2d at 442–43 ("[S]tatements by police officers during interrogations are not 'testimony' given by witnesses at trial and were not offered at trial to impeach the defendant, but to provide context for his responses.").

And Thomas's statements did inform the context surrounding Crawford's conduct on the video. In his brief, Crawford urges the statements were unnecessary because "he simply listened to a substantial amount of the detectives' statements or just denied he knew what had happened." Appellant's Br. 60. But this is exactly why the officers statements were relevant. In the video, Crawford initially sat casually and declined to respond to the officer's questions as to his activities during the evening. Exh. 74 00:00-01:50. He denied being at the scene and was evasive when asked if he was familiar with that area. Exh. 74 01:30-2:20; 06:45-07:04. When told that he had been positively identified as being in a fight, Crawford simply shrugged it off. Exh. 74 02:10-03:00; 12:37-13:13. Rather than answer the detectives' direct questions, Crawford attempted to change the topic, interchangeably insinuating that Baker or someone named Frankie was responsible for the crime, or that the police were actually interested in a different incident altogether. 03:40-04:00; 05:30-06:10; 06:15-06:45; 09:49-10:40. He denied having done anything and denied the seriousness of his relationship with Baker. Exh. 74 02:55-03:15. Throughout the interview Crawford responds to Thomas's piercing questions with shrugs, smiles, and laughs as though amused. Exh. 74 03:10-03:40; 07:25-07:45; 08:25-08:45; 09:00-09:20; 12:20-12:37; 13:41-14:10; 17:30-17:50; 19:20-35. In fact, he is so unperturbed he begins singing. Exh. 74 11:07–12:15; 14:00–14:24. When told he is being held for the charge of first degree

murder, he maintains his indifferent composure. Without the detectives' statements, the jury would be unable to place Crawford's denials, obfuscations, and general bemusement and mannerisms in their appropriate context. The district court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the exhibit.

B. Crawford was not Prejudiced by Thomas's Statements Because Cumulative Evidence was Already in the Record; any Error from Admitting the Redacted Version of Exhibit 74 was Harmless.

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